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NOTE ABOUT FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains formimaking statements within the meaning of the Pev@aécurities Litigation Reform Act
1995. These statements include, among other thatgements regarding plans, objectives, goalstesfies, future events or performance
underlying assumptions and other statements, waiehother than statements of historical facts. Bodwooking statements may app
throughout this report, including without limitatipin Part |, Item 2 “ManagemestDiscussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiod &esult
of Operations.” Forward-looking statements gengrain be identified by words such as “anticipatébglieves,” “estimates,” “expects,”
“intends,” “plans,” “predicts,” “projects,” “will ,” “will continue,” “will likely result,” and simiar expressions. These forwdmbking
statements are based on current expectations anchpsons that are subject to risks and uncer&gintvhich could cause our actual resul
differ materially from those reflected in the fomdidooking statements. Factors that could cause atriboite to such differences include,
are not limited to, those discussed in this Quirteeport on Form 1@ and those discussed in other documents we file thvé Securities al
Exchange Commission (“SECImportant factors that in our view could cause matadverse affects on our financial condition aesults @
operations include, but are note limited to, tisksiand uncertainties related to our future opamatiand financial results, competitive fact
the timing of the openings of other clubs, the kmlity of acceptable financing to fund corpora&epansion efforts, our dependence on
personnel, the ability to manage operations andutee operational strength of management, and the lawsrging the operation of ad
entertainment businesses. We undertake no obligadicevise or publicly release the results of eewision to any forwardeoking statement
except as required by law. Given these risks arcbiainties, readers are cautioned not to placeiaimdliance on such forwatdeking
statements.

As used herein, the “Company,” “we,” “
indicates otherwise.

our,” and dmn terms include Ricls Cabaret International, Inc. and its subsidiatieéess the conte
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Item 1. Financial Statements.

PART |

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS

(in thousands, except per share date

Assets
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel
Accounts receivable
Trade, ne
Other, ne
Marketable securitie
Inventories
Deferred tax assi
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Assets of discontinued operations
Total current asse

Property and equipment, r

Other asset:

Goodwill

Other indefinite lived intangible
Definite lived intangible!

Other

Total other assets

Total assets

See accompanying notes to consolidated financgsients.

March 31, September
2013 30, 2012

(UNAUDITED)

$ 9,24t $ 5,52(

1,851 1,74¢

382 29¢

572 1,05¢

1,52( 1,26(

4,25¢ 3,63t

2,40¢ 1,128

35 72

20,27« 14,70¢

92,93« 79,94(

43,98’ 43,42:

53,45¢ 50,60¢

1,247 1,175

3,68¢ 2,53¢

102,38: 97,74¢

$ 215,58¢ $ 192,39:




RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
March 31, September 30

(in thousands, except per share date 2013 2012
(UNAUDITED)

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payabl $ 2,05 $ 1,86¢
Accrued liabilities 8,02¢ 4,29¢
Texas patron tax liabilit 11,63¢ 9,84¢
Current portion of derivative liabilitie - 75
Current portion of lon-term debt 6,82¢ 6,60:
Liabilities of discontinued operations 121 163
Total current liabilities 28,66¢ 22,85
Deferred tax liability 25,12 23,96:
Other lon¢-term liabilities 864 83:
Long-term debt 68,17¢ 56,92¢
Total liabilities 122,83: 104,57:

Commitments and contingenci
Temporary equit- Common stock, subject to put rights zero and 9eshaespectivel - 207
PERMANENT STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Preferred stock, $.10 par, 1,000 shares authorimatt issued and outstand - -
Common stock, $.01 par, 20,000 shares authorizé83%nd 9,584 shares issued and outstanding,

respectively 95 9€
Additional paic-in capital 60,96( 61,21:
Accumulated other comprehensive | 67 5¢
Retained earnings 28,33! 22,93¢
Total Rick's permanent stockhold’ equity 89,45 84,30t
Noncontrolling interest 3,30z 3,30¢
Total permanent stockholders’ equity 92,75¢ 87,61:
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 215,58¢ $ 192,39.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financgsients.




RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

(in thousands, except per share data)

Revenues
Sales of alcoholic beverag
Sales of food and merchand
Service revenue
Other

Total revenue

Operating expense

Cost of goods sol

Salaries and wagt

Stock compensatia

Other general and administrati
Taxes and permil
Charge card fee
Rent
Legal and profession:
Advertising and marketin
Insurance
Utilities
Depreciation and amortizatic
Settlement of lawsu
Other
Total operating expenses

Operating incom:

Other income (expense
Interest incomt
Interest expens

Gain on change in fair value of derivative instrunise
Income from continuing operations before incomes

Income taxes
Income from continuing operatiol

Loss from discontinued operations, net of inconxe¢a

Net income

Less: net income attributable to noncontrollingefests
Net income attributable to Ri’s Cabaret International, Inc.

Basic earnings (loss) per share attributable t&’s shareholder:

Income from continuing operatiol
Loss from discontinued operatio
Net income

Diluted earnings (loss) per share attributableitk’s shareholder:

Income from continuing operatiol
Loss from discontinued operatio
Net income

Weighted average number of common shares outsigr

Basic
Diluted

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

FOR THE THREE MONTHS
ENDED MARCH 31,

FOR THE SIX MONTHS
ENDED MARCH 31,

2013 2012 2013 2012
(UNAUDITED) (UNAUDITED)
$ 11,04 $ 10,40¢ $ 21,44¢ $ 19,32:
2,87¢ 2,33t 5,45¢ 4,33:
13,05: 11,28: 25,70; 21,16’
1,75¢ 1,39: 3,257 2,61(
28,72¢ 25,41 55,86¢ 47 43;
3,49t 3,39( 6,881 6,32-
6,14¢ 5,201 12,18" 10,13(
281 12 562 21
4,57: 3,95¢ 8,79¢ 7,40¢
342 37¢ 71€ 681
78 721 1,35: 1,42¢
98¢ 741 1,621 1,441
1,167 1,04( 2,271 2,03t
57C 347 1,06¢ 63¢
552 40€ 1,041 807
1,317 1,19( 2,63: 2,31(
- 1,831 - 1,831
2,35: 1,75( 4,631 3,56¢
22,55. 20,95¢ 43,75¢ 38,61
6,17¢ 4,45¢ 12,11( 8,82(
1 1 8 3
(1,767) (1,106) (3,405) (2,079
1 4C 1 13¢
4,41¢ 3,391 8,71¢ 6,88-
1,61¢ 1,13¢ 3,19¢ 2,347
2,801 2,257 5,51t 4,54
3 (87) 17 (139
2,79¢ 2,17( 5,49¢ 4,407
(53) (53) (10€) (10€)
$ 2,748 $ 2117 $ 539: $ 4,301
$ 0.2¢ $ 02: $ 057 $ 0.4¢
$ (0.00 $ 0.01) $ 0.00 $ (0.01)
$ 02¢ $ 02: $ 05¢ $ 0.42
$ 0.2¢ $ 02: $ 05€ $ 0.4¢
$ (0.00 $ (0.0 $ (0.00 $ (0.01)
$ 0.2¢ $ 02: $ 056 $ 0.42
9,51¢ 9,72( 9,54¢ 9,70:
9,98¢ 9,731 9,871 9,71(

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ#tistents.




RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE THREE MONTHS FOR THE SIX MONTHS
(in thousands, except per share data) ENDED MARCH 31, ENDED MARCH 31,
2013 2012 2013 2012
(UNAUDITED) (UNAUDITED)
Net income $ 2,79t $ 2,17 $ 549¢ $ 4,407
Other comprehensive incorr
Unrealized holding gain on securities availablesale (3 2 8 17
Comprehensive income 2,79 2,172 5,50¢ 4,42¢
Less: net income attributable to noncontrollingietts (53) (53) (10€) (106)
Comprehensive income to common stockholders $ 2,74:  $ 2,11¢  $ 540C $ 4,31¢




RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands, except per share data)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income
Loss from discontinued operations
Income from continuing operatiol
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash praVicle operating activities
Depreciation and amortizatic
Deferred taxe
Amortization of note discour
Gain on change in fair value of derivative instrums
Deferred rent:
Stock compensation exper
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other as
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Cash provided by operating activities of continuapgration:s
Cash used in operating activities of discontinugerations

Net cash provided by operating activit

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Additions to property and equipme

Proceeds from sale of marketable secur

Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired

Cash used in investing activities of continuing ragiens
Cash use in investing activities of discontinuedrations
Net cash used by investing activit

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of put options and payments on derivatasteument
Payments on lor-term debt

Proceeds from lor-term debt

Purchase of treasury sto

Exercise of warrant

Distribution to minority interests

Cash used in financing activities of continuing i@iens

NET INCREASE IN CASF
CASH AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD
CASH AT END OF PERIOD

CASH PAID (RECEIVED) DURING PERIOD FOF
Interest

Income taxes

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsgistents.

FOR THE SIX MONTHS
ENDED MARCH 31,

2013 2012

(UNAUDITED)

$ 5,49t $ 4,407
17 132

5,51¢ 4,54

2,63: 2,31(

(122) 2,16¢

12€ 72

(2) (13¢)

(20) 24

562 21

(201) (34¢)

(260) (39)

(2,597) (982)

5,32t 4,49:

10,96( 12,11,

(23) (137)

10,93 11,98(
(3,276) (4,749)

50C -

(3,000 (1,43
(5,776) (6,189
(5,776) (6,187)

(13¢) (1,044

(4,75¢) (2,857)

4,50( -

(929) (722)

- 90C

(10€) (10¢)

(1,439 (3,83))

3,72¢ 1,96¢

5,52( 9,69¢

$ 924t $ 11,66+
$ 313 $ 1,83¢
$ 1,09° $ (562)




Non-cash transactions:

During the six months ended March 31, 2013, the @ purchased and retired 112,159 common treahares. The cost of these sh
was $928,759.

During the six months ended March 31, 2013, the @y incurred $12.1 million in seller-financed letggm debt in connection with t
acquisition of real estate.

During the six months ended March 31, 2013, the @y issued warrants valued at $38,256 in connegtith the issuance of debt.

During the six months ended March 31, 2012, the o utilized $8 million in seller-financed lortgrm debt in a business acquisition
utilized $6.2 million in seller-financed long-temebt in the purchase of real estate and aircratft.

During the six months ended March 31, 2012, the @y purchased and retired 93,240 common treabangs. The cost of these shares
$721,763.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsgistents.




RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MARCH 31, 2013
(UNAUDITED)

1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying unaudited consolidated finant#éments have been prepared in accordance witluaticg principles generally accep
in the United States of America for interim finagdnformation and with the instructions to FormQ®f Regulation S¢. They do not incluc
all information and footnotes required by accountprinciples generally accepted in the United Staie America for complete financ
statements. However, except as disclosed herairg thas been no material change in the informatieciosed in the notes to the consolid
financial statements for the year ended Septemie2@®L2 included in the Company's Annual Reporform 10K, as filed with the Securiti
and Exchange Commission. The interim unauditechfired statements should be read in conjunction thitise financial statements include
the Form 10K. In the opinion of management, all adjustmentssatered necessary for a fair presentation, cangisblely of normal recurrir
adjustments, have been made. Operating resultedasix months ended March 31, 2013 are not neglyssaicative of the results that may
expected for the year ending September 30, 2013.

2. RECENT ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND PRONOUNCEMENTS

In June 2011 new guidance was issued regardindisatosure of the components of comprehensive icdrhis guidance gives the entity
option to present the total of comprehensive ingaiime components of net income, and the comporerather comprehensive income eil
in a single continuous statement of comprehensiveme or in two separate but consecutive statemkengsther option, an entity is requirec
present each component of net income along witi tedt income, each component of other compreherissome along with a total for otl
comprehensive income, and a total amount for cohgmrgive income. This guidance eliminates the opiiopresent the components of o
comprehensive income as part of the statementafgds in stockholdersquity. This guidance does not change the itemanhiat be reporte
in other comprehensive income or when an item lbéotomprehensive income must be reclassified tanaeme. This guidance is effect
for interim and annual periods beginning after Deler 15, 2011 and is required to be adopted regmsely. The Company has adopted
guidance beginning with the Form 10-Q for the qeraehding December 31, 2012.

In July 2012 new guidance was issued regardingntipairment testing related to indefiniiged intangible assets. This guidance permit
entity to make a qualitative assessment to determihether it is more likely than not that an ind&é-ived intangible asset, other tt
goodwill, is impaired. If an entity concludes, basea an evaluation of all relevant qualitative éast that it is not more likely than not that
fair value of an indefinitéived intangible asset is less than its carryingpant, it will not be required to perform the quéative impairment fc
that asset. This guidance is effective for inteaind annual periods beginning after September 182.20he Company has eaidyglopted thi
guidance beginning with the Form KOfor the year ended September 30, 2012. The imphation of this guidance did not have a mat
impact on the Company’s consolidated financialestents.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Following are certain remarkable accounting pritesmand disclosures.

Marketable Securities

Marketable securities at March 31, 2013 consisbond funds. ASC 320lnvestments in Debt and Equity Securitiesequires certa
investments be recorded at fair value or amortzest. The appropriate classification of the invesita in marketable equity is determine
the time of purchase and re-evaluated at each dmlsiteet date. As of March 31, 2013, the Comgamgdrketable securities were classifie
available-forsale, which are carried at fair value, with unmedi gains and losses reported as other comprekeirgiome within th
stockholdersequity section of the accompanying consolidatedrizd sheets. The cost of marketable securitiessdletermined on a speci
identification basis. The fair value of marketalsiecurities is based on quoted market prices basetewel 1 inputs —quoted price
(unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilitiesaittive markets There have been no realized gains or losse®detatmarketable securities
the six month periods ended March 31, 2013 or 2(Marketable securities held at March 31, 2013 haveost basis of approximat
$500,000.




RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MARCH 31, 2013
(UNAUDITED)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

Fair Value Accounting

In December 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157 (83@),Fair Value MeasurementsSFAS No. 157 clarifies the definition of fair val
describes methods used to appropriately measurevdhie, and expands fair value disclosure requergs) but does not change exis
guidance as to whether or not an instrument isezhiat fair value. For financial assets and lidie#i, ASC 820 is effective for fiscal ye
beginning after November 15, 2007, which requireslCompany to adopt these provisions in fiscal 2609 nonfinancial assets and liabilit
SFAS No. 157 is effective for fiscal years begimnafter November 15, 2008, which required the Camgga adopt these provisions in fis
2010.

US GAAP establishes a three-tier fair value hidrgrevhich prioritizes the inputs used in the valmatmethodologies in measuring fair value:
Level 1- Observable inputs that reflect quoted prices (wredf) for identical assets or liabilities in aetimarkets
Level 2- Include other inputs that are directly or indirgaibservable in the marketpla

Level 3— Unobservable inputs which are supported by littla@ market activity

The fair value hierarchy also requires an entitynaximize the use of observable inputs and mininfieeuse of unobservable inputs w
measuring fair value.

The Company’s derivative liabilities have been nuead principally utilizing Level 2 inputs.




RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MARCH 31, 2013
(UNAUDITED)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

The Company classifies its marketable securitiesvaflable-forsale, which are reported at fair value. Unrealizeltling gains and losses,
of the related income tax effect, if any, on aJadaforsale securities are excluded from income and guerted as accumulated ot
comprehensive income in stockholders’ equity. Realigains and losses from securities classifieavadable forsale are included in incon
The Company measures the fair value of its marketscurities based on quoted prices for idensealrities in active markets, or Leve
inputs. As of March 31, 2013, available-for-salewséies consisted of the following:

Gross
(in thousands Cost Unrealized Fair
Available for Sale Basis Gains Value
Tax-Advantaged Bond Fund $ 50C $ 72 $ 572

In accordance with ASC Topic 32Bwestments — Debt and Equity Securitighe Company reviews its marketable securitiedei@rmin
whether a decline in fair value of a security belbw cost basis is other than temporary. Shouldi#tdine be considered other than tempo
the Company writes down the cost basis of the #gcand include the loss in current earnings asospd to an unrealized holding loss.
losses for other than temporary impairments inGbenpanys marketable securities portfolio were recognizednd) the quarter ended Mau
31, 2013.

Financial assets and liabilities measured atvaine on a recurring basis are summarized below:

(in thousands Carrying
March 31, 201! Amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Marketable securitie $ 57z $ 57z $ - 3 =
(in thousands Carrying
September 30, 201 Amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Marketable securitie $ 1,05¢ $ 1,05¢ $ - 3 =
Derivative liability $ 7503 - % 7% 3 -

Discontinued Operations

In March 2011, the Company made the decision tbitseLas Vegas location and, in April 2011, shgrptduced its operations in ordel
eliminate losses as it sought a buyer for the clihle. Company believes that it has done everythirsgipte to make this location viable since
acquisition in 2008 and now believes it is in itgueholdersbest interests not to continue these efforts. Thie was shuttered and the landl
took over the property in June 2011. Therefores thilb is recognized as a discontinued operatichénaccompanying consolidated finan
statements.

The Company has sold a controlling portion of thehership interest in the entity that previouslgraped its Ricks Cabaret in Austin, Tex:
Accordingly, the Company has deconsolidated thasididry and carries it as an equitiethod investment. The Company has not receive
cash flows from the entity since the sale and daesmticipate any in the near future. The remainimgmpaired investment amountec
approximately $96,000 as of March 31, 2013. The gamy believes the investment is recoverable infuhee due to the Sexually Orien
Business license which is held in the entity aral lfhtation. A new nightclub has not been openethénspace since the Company soli
controlling interest. Accordingly, the club is regized as a discontinued operation in the accomipgropnsolidated financial statements.




RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MARCH 31, 2013
(UNAUDITED)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

Discontinued Operationscontinued

We closed our Divas Latinas club in Houston dutiegptember 2010. This club is recognized in discoeti operations.
4. STOCK OPTIONS AND STOCK-BASED EMPLOYEE COMPENSAT ION
Employee and Director Stock Option Plans

In 1995, the Company adopted the 1995 Stock Og#lam (the “1995 Plan”jor employees and directors. In August 1999, then@an
adopted the 1999 Stock Option Plan (the “1999 Bland in 2010, the ComparsyBoard of Directors approved the 2010 Stock Opfitam (th
“2010 Plan”) (collectively, “the Plans”)The 2010 Plan was approved by the shareholderseofCompany at the 2011 Annual Meetin
Shareholders. The options granted under the Plagsbhm either incentive stock options, or rpralified options. The Plans are administere
the Board of Directors or by a compensation congmitbf the Board of Directors. The Board of Direstbas the exclusive power to se
individuals to receive grants, to establish thenteof the options granted to each participant, igiex\/that all options granted shall be grantt
an exercise price equal to at least 85% of therfairket value of the common stock covered by th@opn the grant date and to make
determinations necessary or advisable under thesPla

The compensation costs recognized for the threethm@nded March 31, 2013 and 2012 were $281,74%aR@881, respectively, and w
$563,490 and $20,635 for the six months then endeshectively. There were no stock option grantg»arcises for the six months en
March 31, 2013 or 2012.

Stock Option Activity

The following is a summary of all stock option tsantions for the six months ended March 31, 2013:

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Weighted Contractual Aggregate
(in thousands, except for per share Average Term Intrinsic
and year information Shares Exercise Prict (years) Value
Outstanding as of September 30, 2! 78t % 8.3¢€
Grantec - -
Cancelled or expire - -
Exercised - -
Outstanding as of March 31, 2013 785 % 8.3¢ 1.2¢ % 37¢
Options exercisable as of March 31, 2013 3¢ $ 7.1t 04z $ 51

10




RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MARCH 31, 2013
(UNAUDITED)

5. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLES

Following are the changes in the carrying amouhtgpodwill and licenses for the six months endedde81, 2013 and 2012:

(in thousands 2013 2012
Licenses Goodwill Licenses Goodwill
Beginning balanc $ 50,60¢ $ 43,42: $ 42,09: $ 23,55(
Intangibles acquire 2,85( 997 1,60: -
Other - (431) - 52¢
Ending balance $ 53,45¢ $ 43,98 $ 43,69 $ 24,07¢

6. LONG-TERM DEBT

On January 24, 2013, the Company sold to an invg$toa 10% Convertible Debenture with a princigaghount of $3,000,000 (t
“Debenture”), under the terms and conditions sghfim the Debenture, and (ii) a warrant to purehagotal of 60,000 shares of the Company
common stock (the “Warrant”ynder the terms and conditions set forth in theffar The Debenture has a term of two years, iventible
into shares of our common stock at a conversiotepsf $10.00 per share (subject to adjustment)hasdan annual interest rate of 10%,
one initial payment of interest only due July 2@13, and thereafter, the principal amount is payabkix equal quarterly principal payment
$500,000 plus accrued and unpaid interest. Six nsoatter the issue date of the Debenture, we Haveight to redeem the Debenture if
Companys common stock has a closing price of $13.00 (stltgeadjustment) for 20 consecutive trading daye Warrant has an exerc
price of $10.00 per share (subject to adjustmend) expires on January 24, 2015. In the event tiesn effective registration statem
registering the shares of common stock underhtiegWarrant, the Company has the right to requisrase of the Warrant if the Compaay’
common stock has a closing price of $13.00 (suliie@djustment) for 20 consecutive trading dayse Tompany sold the Debenture
Warrant to the investor in a private transactiod egceived consideration of $3,000,000. Brean @hpit C acted as exclusive placement a
for the transaction and received a placement f&©bf the gross proceeds raised.

In March 2013, the Company borrowed $1.5 millioonfran individual. The note is collateralized byeaand lien on the ComparsyMiami
nightclub, bears interest at 13% and interestysbpi@ monthly. The principal is payable in Marcig0

See Note 9, Acquisitions, for information abouttaer long-term debt incurred in the acquisitiorbakinesses.
7. COMMON STOCK

During the six months ended March 31, 2013, the @amg purchased 112,159 shares of Company commaek &o its treasury at
aggregate cost of $928,759. These shares havediied.

During the six months ended March 31, 2012, the gamy purchased 93,240 shares of Company commok fetoits treasury at an aggreg
cost of $721,763. These shares have been retired.

During the six months ended March 31, 2012, the @y issued 102,856 shares of common stock forcesesr warrants aggregat
$899,990.

11




RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MARCH 31, 2013
(UNAUDITED)

8. EARNINGS PER SHARE (“EPS")

The Company computes earnings per share in acamrdaith FASB ASC 260Earnings Per Share ASC 260 provides for the calculatior
basic and diluted earnings per share. Basic easrpeg share includes no dilution and is computedlibiging income available to comm
stockholders by the weighted average number of comahares outstanding for the period. Diluted easiper share reflect the poter
dilution of securities that could share in the @aga of the Company.

Potential common stock shares consist of shareéarthg arise from outstanding dilutive common steckrants and options (the numbe
which is computed using the “treasury stock methadid from outstanding convertible debentures (thmber of which is computed using
“if converted method”).

Diluted EPS considers the potential dilution thatld occur if the Compang’ outstanding common stock options, warrants amyextible
debentures were converted into common stock tlest shared in the
Company’s earnings (as adjusted for interest exgethat would no longer occur if the debenturesensemverted).

FOR THE QUARTER FOR THE SIX MONTHS
ENDED MARCH 31, ENDED MARCH 31,
2013 2012 2013 2012
Basic earnings per shai
Income from continuing operations attributable tok® shareholder $ 2,748 $ 2,20¢ % 540¢ $ 4,43¢
Loss from discontinued operations, net of incomxesa (3) (87) (17) (133)
Net income attributable to Rick's shareholc $ 2,74t $ 2117 $ 539 $ 4,301
Average number of common shares outstanding 9,51/ 9,72( 9,54¢ 9,70:
Basic earnings per share - income from continujpgrations $ 02¢ $ 02: % 057 $ 0.4€
Basic earnings per share - discontinued operations $ (0.00 $ 0.0) $ 0.00 $ (0.09)
Basic earnings per share - net income attribut@mbRick's shareholders $ 02¢ $ 02: $ 05¢ $ 0.42
Diluted earnings per shar
Income from continuing operations attributable toki® shareholder $ 2,74¢  $ 2,20¢ % 5,40¢ $ 4,43¢
Adustment. to net earnings from assumed converdidebentures (1) 10¢ - 151 -
Adjusted income from continuing operatic 2,85:% 2,20¢ 5,56( 4,43¢
Discontinued operations (3) (87) (17) (139
Adjusted net income attributable to Rick's shardérd $ 2,85 $ 2117 $ 554: $ 4,301
Average number of common shares outstanc
Common shares outstandi 9,51« 9,72( 9,54¢ 9,707
Potential dilutive shares resulting from exercitevarrants and options (. 5 11 9 7
Potential dilutive shares resulting from conversiblebentures (3) 46¢ - 31€ -
Total average number of common shares outstandied for dilution 9,98¢ 9,731 9,871 9,71(
Diluted earnings per share - income from continudpgrations atrributable to Rick's
shareholder $ 02¢ $ 02: % 056 $ 0.4¢€
Diluted earnings per share - discontinued operation $ (0.00 $ (0.0) $ (0.00 $ (0.09)
Diluted earnings per share - net income attribetéabIRick's shareholders $ 0.2¢ $ 02: $ 0.5¢ $ 0.44
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MARCH 31, 2013
(UNAUDITED)

8. EARNINGS PER SHARE (“EPS”) - continued

(1) Represents interest expense on dilutive coiierebentures that would not occur if they wessumed converted.

(2) All outstanding warrants and options were cdesgd for the EPS computation.

(3) Convertible debentures (principal and accrugdrest) outstanding at March 31, 2013 and 201&ingt $6.2 million and $5.4 millio
respectively, were convertible into common stoch arice of $10.00 and $10.25 per share in 2013%40d00 to $10.25 per share in 2012,
potential dilutive shares for each of the three sixdmonth periods ended March 31, 2012 have bgeluded from earnings per share du
being anti-dilutive.

* EPS may not foot due to rounding.

9. ACQUISITIONS
Fiscal 2012

The Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, RCI Diningr8ces (Tarrant County), Inc., a Texas Corporafi®®Cl Tarrant County”)entere
into an Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Memigtdhits with Fred McDonald (“Seller"jor the purchase of 100% of the member
units of 12291 CBW, LLC (“12291 CBW"). 12291 CBWwvned and operated an adult entertainment cabatrkras “The New West”
located at 12291 Camp Bowie West, Aledo, Texasee Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Membershipslhdsed October 5, 20:
whereby RCI Tarrant County acquired the membershits of 12291 CBW for the purchase price of $380,0rhe Company now operates
BYOB club as “Temptations'The Company also paid $55,000 at closing for certasts related to the access to the club. Theeeb®80,00
has been allocated to license.

Our wholly owned subsidiaries, RCI Dining Servi¢€seemmons), Inc. (“RCI Stemmons”), RCI Dining Sess (Inwood), Inc. (“RCI Inwood”
and RCI Dining Services (Stemmons 2), Inc. (“RChiDg”) entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement (Hréor Agreement”)with Mr.
Thanasi Mantas, Green Star, Inc. (“Green StarfeMining Club, Inc. (“Fine Dining”), Blue Star Ertainment Inc. (“Blue Star")Adelphi
Group Ltd. (“Adelphi”) and PNYX Limited Partnersh{tPNYX"). The Prior Agreement was amended on December 28,. Z01 January 1
2012, (i) Green Star, Fine Dining, Mr. Mantas, Asté] PNYX, RCI Stemmons, RCI Dining and RCI Hold#ngnc., our wholly owne
subsidiary (“RCI Holdings”), entered into a new &d”urchase Agreement (the “Silver City Purchasee@ment”)and (ii) Blue Star, M
Mantas, PNYX, RCI Inwood and RCI Holdings enteneibia separate Stock Purchase Agreement (the ‘BarePurchase Agreementiyhich
was subsequently terminated. The entry into theeSiCity Purchase Agreement and the Blue Star Rseci\greement terminated the F
Agreement, as amended.

Green Star owns and operates an adult entertaincadaret known as “Silver City Cabareptated at 7501 N. Stemmons Freeway, Ds
Texas 75247. Fine Dining has a concession to peoaldohol sales and services to Green Star atither €ity Cabaret. Mr. Mantas own
100% of the stock of Green Star and Fine Dinings®&ant to the Silver City Purchase Agreement, Mankds agreed to sell (i) all the stoc!
Green Star to RCI Stemmons for the purchase pfi¢d,d00,000 in the form of a promissory note aiijda{l the stock of Fine Dining to Rt
Fine Dining for the purchase price of $100,000ni& form of a promissory note. Each of the promigsmtes will be payable over 11 years
have an adjustable interest rate of 5.5%. Thistretion closed on January 17, 2012.

Adelphi owned the real properties where the SilRéy Cabaret is located, including 7501 N. StemmBrseway, Dallas, Texas 75247
7600 John West Carpenter Freeway, Dallas, Texa477%hd PNYX
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MARCH 31, 2013
(UNAUDITED)

9. ACQUISITIONS - continued

owned certain adjacent real property at 7506 Jokst\W@arpenter Freeway, Dallas, Texas 75247. lsactions related to the Prior Agreem
Adelphi and PNYX had previously entered into resthte purchase agreements with RCI Holdings on hbee 17, 2011, which agreeme
were subsequently amended as part of the Silver Rirchase Agreement transaction. Pursuant togkestate purchase agreement
amended, (i) Adelphi agreed to sell the real prigeat 7501 N. Stemmons and 7600 John West Canpfemtthe purchase price of $6,500,(
payable $300,000 in cash and $6,200,000 in the &dram adjustable 5.5% promissory note that is pleyaver 11 years, and (i) PNYX agrt
to sell the real property at 7506 John West Caggent the purchase price of $1,000,000, payab8®F00 in cash and $300,000 in the fort
an adjustable 5.5% promissory note that is payatés 11 years. The real estate transactions clogettmporaneously with the Silver C
Purchase Agreement.

At closing of the Silver City Purchase Agreemeansactions, Mr. Mantas entered into a NGwmpetition Agreement providing for him to
compete with our subsidiaries by owning, partidiggbr operating an establishment featuring acutérainment within Dallas County and
contiguous counties (excepting the property locatet449 Inwood Road, Dallas, Texas 75247).

The following information summarizes the allocatwfifair values assigned to the assets and lisdsilat the purchase date.

(in thousands)

Building, land and conten $ 7,502
Equipment and furnitur 13C
Noncompete 10C
Inventory and other current ass 47
Goodwill 427
SOB license: 1,221
Deferred taxes (429
Net asset $ 9,00(

The Company incurred approximately $76,000 in legzdts associated with the acquisition, which a@uded in legal and professio
expense in the accompanying consolidated stateofiémtome.

Goodwill in the acquisition represents the offgetite deferred tax liability recorded as a restithe difference in the basis of the net assel
tax and financial purposes. The goodwill is nadwtgible for income tax purposes. The resultsparations of these entities are included ir
Company’s consolidated results of operations silarauary 17, 2012. This acquisition was made tdvéurthe Companyg’ growth objective «
acquiring nightclubs that will quickly contribute the Company earnings per share. Proforma results of op@stiave not been provided
the amounts were not deemed material to the cataeli financial statements.

On December 2, 2011, RCI Holdings entered into al Estate Sales Agreement with Bryan S. Fostewigireg for RCI Holdings to purcha

from Mr. Foster the real properties located at B28alloway Cemetery Road, Fort Worth, Texas andl2#ianana Drive, Dallas, Texas,
the aggregate purchase
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MARCH 31, 2013
(UNAUDITED)

9. ACQUISITIONS - continued

price of $5,500,000, including $2,000,000 cash $8¢00,000 in the form of an 8% promissory note thaayable over 10 years. The |
Worth property represents the land for Cabaret, st of our clubs and the Dallas property reprsstére land at another gentlemeriub
This transaction closed on January 13, 2012.

2013

In connection with the acquisition of the Fosteuld, as explained in Note M in the Company’s FoflskK1for the year ended September
2012, the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, Jagudoldings, Inc. (“JHI"), entered into a Commerci@bntract (the Real Estat
Agreement”) which agreement provided for JHI to purchase tla¢ estate where the Foster Clubs are located.r@hedctions contemplated
the Real Estate Agreement closed on October 1&.2I1e purchase price of the real estate was $hilibn (discounted to $9.6 million

explained below) and was paid with $350,000 in c&8hl million in mortgage notes, including theltamption of approximately $4.2 million
notes, and an agreement to make atone-payment of $650,000 in twelve years that bearénterest. The note bears interest at the rf
9.5%, is payable in 143 equal monthly installmemtd is secured by the real estate properties. Tmep@ny has recorded a debt discoul
$431,252 related to the omiene payment of $650,000. The Company reduced pusly recognized goodwill because the purchasene
Foster Clubs operations and the real esteiee considered to be one purchase transactionmuittiple closings and were included in the s
purchase agreement.

The following information summarizes the allocatwfifair values assigned to the assets at the psectate.

Buildings and lant $ 10,06¢
Goodwill (431
Net asset $ 9,63¢

On December 6, 2012, the Company’s wholly ownedsislidgry, RCI Holdings, Inc. (“RCI Holdings™)entered into a Purchase and :
Agreement (the “Real Estate Agreement”) with Red@$ Corp. (“Regent”). Regent owns the building locazd0 West 339 Street, Ne
York, New York where an adult cabaret owned by @mmpany’s subsidiary, RCI Entertainment (New Yoiki. (“RCI New York”), is
located. Regent currently leases the entire bigldinRCI New York under a lease agreement withrian tihat ends in 2023. The Real Es
Agreement provides for RCI Holdings to acquire thélding from Regent for aggregate consideration$@B,000,000. Pursuant to
agreement, RCI Holdings has paid $750,000 cashdrow.. The Real Estate Agreement is scheduledsedly June 4, 2013, at which time
escrow funds will be released to Regent, and RGdliHgs will pay Regent the balance of the purchaéee, under the terms and condition
the Real Estate Agreement. Also at closing, Regalhtassign to RCI Holdings the lease agreementeandhich RCI New York leases 1
building.
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9. ACQUISITIONS - continued

On March 4, 2013, the Company completed the adgqrnisdf a second adult business in midtown Manaftdhe Company plans to open a |
gentlemen's club at the 61 West®BBtreet location, just east of Sixth Avenue. Ri€kbaret paid $3 million for the business, with $hiion
paid in cash and the remaining $1.5 million in percent promissory notes convertible into shareRick's Cabaret common stock ¢
conversion price of $10.25. The notes call for rhnpayments of $16,653, including principal antenest, and mature in 120 monthat the
option of the noteholders, the principal amounthef notes and the accrued but unpaid interestghemgay be converted into shares of
Companys common stock at $10.25 per share. The notesdeemable by the Company at any time if the clopie of its common sto
for 20 consecutive trading days is at least $1Bet7share.

The following information summarizes the allocatwfifair values assigned to the assets and liadsldt the purchase date.

(in thousands)

Noncompete $ 15C
Goodwill 997
SOB license: 2,85(
Deferred taxes (997
Net asset $ 3,00(

The Company incurred approximately $34,000 in legadts associated with the acquisition, which aduded in legal and professio
expense in the accompanying consolidated stateofié@mtome.

Goodwill in the acquisition represents the offgethte deferred tax liability recorded as a restithe difference in the basis of the net asset
tax and financial purposes. The goodwill is noduttible for income tax purposes. The resultspdrations of this company are include
the Company’s consolidated results of operationsesMarch 5, 2012. This acquisition was made tth&rrthe Companyg’ growth objective «
acquiring nightclubs that will quickly contribute the Company earnings per share. Proforma results of op@stiave not been provided
the amounts were not deemed material to the cafeell financial statements.

10. INCOME TAXES
Income tax expense on continuing operations forpdsgods presented differs from the “expectéetieral income tax expense computes

applying the U.S. federal statutory rate of 34%e#onings before income taxes for the three montided December 31, as a result of
following:

For the Three Month For the Six Month:
Ended March 31 Ended March 31

2013 2012 2013 2012
Computed expected tax expel $ 1,50C $ 1,15: $ 295¢ $ 2,34(
State income taxe 56 35 111 7C
Stock option disqualifying dispositiol

and other permanent differences 59 (54) 13C (68)

Total income tax expense $ 1,61t $ 1,132 $ 3,19¢ $ 2,34

Included in the Compang’deferred tax liabilities at March 31, 2013 is mpgmately $17.1 million representing the tax effetindefinite livec
intangible assets from club acquisitions which @we deductible for tax purposes. These deferredigayities will remain in the Company’
balance sheet until the related clubs are sold.

11. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Legal Matters

Beginning January 1, 2008, the Companyexas clubs became subject to a new state laviriregjeach club to collect and pay a $5 surch
for every club visitor. A lawsuit was filed by thHEexas Entertainment Association (“TEAQn organization to which the Company

member, alleging the fee amounts to be an uncatistial tax. On March 28, 2008, a State Distriou@@ Judge in Travis County, Texas rt
that the new state law violates the First Amendnterihe United States Constitution and is therefovalid. The judges order enjoined tl
State from collecting or assessing the tax. TteStppealed the Couwtruling. In Texas, when cities or the State gietice of appeal,
supersedes and suspends the judgment, includinmjirection. Therefore, the judgment of the DisttrCourt cannot be enforced until

appeals are completed. Given the suspension gutggnent, the State gave notice of its right teod the tax pending the outcome of



appeal but took no affirmative action to enforcatttight. On June 5, 2009, the Court of Appeatstii@ Third District (Austin) affirmed tt
District Court’s judgment that the Sexually OriehtBusiness (“S.0.B.”JFee violated the First Amendment to the U.S. Cantstin but ol
August 26, 2011, the Texas Supreme Court reversgutigment of the Court of Appeals, ruling that ®IOB Fee does not violate the F
Amendment to the U.S. Constitution, and remandectése to the District Court to determine whetherfée violates the Texas Constitution.

TEA appealed the Texas Supreme Court's decisiotihg¢oU.S. Supreme Court (regarding the constitutignaf the fee under the Fil
Amendment of the U.S. Constitution), but the U.8pi®@me Court denied the appeal on January 23, Zli#sequently, the case was rema
to the District Court for consideration of the raniag issues raised by TEA. On June 28, 2012 Ofstrict Court in Travis County held

hearing on TEA'’s Texas Constitutional claims andloly 9 entered an order finding that
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11. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

the tax was a constitutional Occupations Tax. Thert denied the remainder of TEAtonstitutional claims. TEA is now in the proce¢
appealing this new decision to the Texas Third €CotiAppeals.

The Company has not made any payments of thesg sin@e the first quarter of 2009 and plans nahédke any such payments while the
is pending in the courts. However, the Company edlitinue to accrue and expense the potentiaidahxity on its financial statements, so i
ultimate negative ruling will not have any effect ibs consolidated income statement and will orffgc the consolidated balance sheet. Ii
final decision of the courts is ultimately in th@@pany’s favor, as it believes it will be, then Bempany will record a ontééme gain of th
entire amount previously expensed.

Since the inception of the tax, the Company had paire than $2 million to the State of Texas umtetest for all four quarters of 2008
the first quarter of 2009, expensing it in the adiggted financial statements (except for two lama in Dallas where the taxes have not |
paid, but the Company is accruing and expensindiabdity). For all subsequent quarters, as ailtesf the Third Courts 2009 decision, tl
Company has accrued the tax, but not paid the .Ststeordingly, as of March 31, 2013, the Compamg lapproximately $11.6 million
accrued liabilities for this tax. Patron tax experamounted to approximately $899,000 and $826@0the quarters ended March 31, 2
and 2012, respectively.

The Companys Texas clubs have filed a separate lawsuit ag#iesState in which the Company raises additiohallenges to the stat
imposing the fee or tax, demanding repayment oftdltes the Company has paid under this statute colrts have not yet addressed t
additional claims. If the Company is successfulhi@a remaining litigation, the amount the Compaayg paid under protest should be repa
applied to any future, constitutional admission@axther Texas state tax liabilities.

The Companys subsidiary that operated the club in Las Vegasr&éeently been audited by the Department of Taraif the State of Neva
for sales and other taxes. The audit period was the date of opening in September 2008 throubh3ly 2010. As a result of the audit,
Department of Taxation contends that the Compahgs Vegas subsidiary owes approximately $2.lianillincluding penalties and intere
for Las Vegas Live Entertainment Taxes. The Comipdoes not believe it is subject to the Live Ergiennent Tax and is protesting the a
results. Accordingly, the Company has not accrtlesl contingent liability in the accompanying condaled financial statements. It
unknown at this time whether the resolution of thigertainty will have a material effect on the Qxamy’s operations.

The Company has been a defendant in a federal litigation, pending since March 30, 2009, in ttmuthern District of New York relating
claims under the Fair Labor Standards Act and Nenk wage and hour laws. Discovery is now completeraations for summary judgme
are pending. While Plaintiffs do not specificaljege the amount of monetary relief sought in ti@mplaint, Plaintiffs have alleged that t
are seeking judgment equal to any unpaid wagesidided damages, interest, costs and attorneyspiassiant to the FLSA and New Yi
Labor Law. The Company denies any liability insthinatter and is vigorously defending the allegatiofhe Company has asse
counterclaims and affirmative defenses for offst anjust enrichment.

In September 2011, the Company’s subsidiary, RGeEainment Las Vegas, Inc. (“RCI Las Vegas”) aridk® Cabaret International we
sued by the lessor of its club in Las Vegas foabheof contract and other issues relating to RGl lagas'lease. The lawsuit alleges at ¢
$10,000 of damages in each of four causes of ad?@i Las Vegas has no assets and, thereforetight® to pay the “deficiencyif any is
ultimately found in a court of law. If the plairft§hould attempt to claim that the “deficiendg’a liability of the parent company, the Comp
believes it has the legal basis upon which to eefhis claim as the parent company is not liabigtie debts of its subsidiaries. Therefore
Company does not believe that this contingency witimately result in a liability and, thereforey accrual has been made in the accompa
consolidated financial statements.

In September 2011, the Company and its CEO weré isuBistrict Court in Travis County Texas by a telder for damages as a resu
the plaintiff's alleged inability to sell shares on the open ®tadkie to restrictive legends which the plaintiféges that the defendants faile:
remove in a timely manner. On March 21, 2012, then@any agreed to a settlement in the case. Thestefrthe settlement provide for
payment of $2,650,000 to the plaintiff and a fuldecomplete release of the Company and the Comp&@&0O. The settlement amount will
paid with approximately $850,000 in insurance peatseand a cash payment from the Company of appedeiyn$1.8 million. No admission
liability was made by the Company. The parties cletegl the settlement documents and an Order of Bssthwas entered into on April :
2012. The $1.8 million has been expensed in theteuended March 31, 2012.

We are subject to litigation relating to claims dagal actions by customers and others in the arglinourse of business alleging negligenc
other legal theories, some of which allege largénts. We insure our liability risks through thirdrfy insurers. Management believes thai
insurance coverage is sufficient to cover insutathts arising out of the operation of our business.

12. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Company has completed the authorized repurabfa$® million of its stock. The Board of Directoo$ the company has authorized



repurchase of up to an additional $3 million wasftshares from time to time on the open markehqarivately negotiated transactions. The
million buy-back was authorized by the Board ont8efber 29, 2008. Under this bbgck plan, the company repurchased 756,087 shé
stock in the open market at an average price @&1$6.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Famcial Condition and Results of Operations.

The following discussion should be read in conjigrctvith our audited consolidated financial statatseand related notes thereto included in
this quarterly report.

GENERAL

Rick's Cabaret International, Inc. was incorporatethe State of Texas in 1994. Through our subsigs, as of March 31, 2013, we own an
operate a total of thirtfive nightclubs that offer live adult entertainmentd two that are restaurant and bar operationshaVe four more adt
clubs and one restaurant and bar opening soonshsidiaries also own a sexually oriented busitiessse at four other locations which \
be opened in 2013 and opened two non aohidnted nightclub/restaurants in 2013 with one enecheduled to be opened later in 2013
have one reportable segment, nightclubs. Our websitldress is_www.Ricks.com We also have an investors’ website
www.ricksinvestor.com

SCHEDULE OF CLUBS

Date
Name of Nightcluk Acquired/Openel

Club Onyx, Houston, T2 1995
Rick's Cabaret, Minneapolis, M 1998
XTC Cabaret, Austin, T> 1998
XTC Cabaret, San Antonio, T 1998
Rick's Cabaret, Houston, T 2000
XTC Cabaret North, Houston, T 2004
Rick's Cabaret, New York City, N 2005
Club Onyx, Charlotte, N( 2005
Rick's Cabaret, San Antonio, T 2006
XTC Cabaret South, South Houston, 2006
Rick's Cabaret, Fort Worth, T 2007
Tootsie's Cabaret, Miami Gardens, 2008
XTC Cabaret, Dallas, T. 2008
Club Onyx, Dallas, T> 2008
Club Onyx, Philadelphia, P. 2008
Rick's Cabaret, North Austin, T 2009
Cabaret North, Fort Worth, T 2009
Cabaret East, Fort Worth, T 2010
XTC Cabaret, Fort Worth, T. 2010
Rick's Cabaret DFW, Fort Worth, T 2011
Downtown Cabaret, Minneapolis, M 2011
Rick's Cabaret, Indianapoalis, | 2011
Temptations, Aledo, T’ 2011
Silver City Cabaret, Dallas, T 2012
Jaguars Club, Odessa, ~ 2012
Jaguars Club, Phoenix, £ 2012
Jaguars Club, Lubbock, T 2012
Jaguars Club, Longview, T 2012
Jaguars Club, Tye, T 2012
Jaguars Club, Edinburg, T 2012
Jaguars Club, El Paso, 1 2012
Jaguars Club, Harlingen, T 2012
Rick's Cabaret, Lubbock, T 2012
Temptations, Beaumont, TX ( 2012
Rick's Cabaret, Odessa, TX | 2012
Vee Lounge, Fort Worth, TX (Z 2013
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Bombshells, Dallas, TX (= 2013

Ricky Bobby, Fort Worth, TX (1 2013
Temptations, Sulphur, LA (¢ 2013
Jaguars Club, Beaumont, TX ( 2013
Vivid Cabaret, Los Angeles (. 2013
Vivid Cabaret, New York (1 2013

(1) To be opened in 2013.

(2) Opened January 17, 2013

(3) Opened February, 26 2013

(4) Opened May 2, 2013

(5) Managed location to open in 2013

As noted above, we have five adult nightclubs amel @staurant under construction:

e Vivid Cabaret in New York — the building is beingmmodeled and should open in the fall.

e Vivid Cabaret in Los Angeles is under constructma should open in June.

e Jaguars Beaumont (Texas) is awaiting a liquor peaimd reconstruction and should open in 2013. iBhéslicensed location which we
will manage.

e Rick’s Cabaret Odessa, Texas should start remagtiia summer.

e Ricky Bobby Sports Saloon is under construction stmalild open this summer.

e Temptations Sulphur opened May 2, 2013.

Our nightclub revenues are derived from the saldicqufor, beer, wine, food, merchandise, cover casrgnembership fees, indepen:
contractors' fees, commissions from vending and Afidthines, valet parking and other products andcsss.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Managemens discussion and analysis of financial conditiod a@sults of operations are based upon our coraeltidfinancial statemen
which have been prepared in accordance with gdpeaatepted accounting principles of the Unitedt&iteof America (“GAAP”). GAAP
consists of a set of standards issued by the FA®Bother authoritative bodies in the form of FASBt8ments, Interpretations, FASB S
Positions, Emerging Issues Task Force consensuskg\merican Institute of Certified Public AccountarStatements of Position, ami
others. The Company has updated references to GiaARis Form 109 to reflect the guidance in the ASC. The prepamabf thes
consolidated financial statements requires our m@mant to make estimates and assumptions thatt affecreported amounts of ass
liabilities, revenues and expenses, and relatedadisre of contingent assets and liabilities. Omegular basis, we evaluate these estinr
including investment impairment. These estimatesb@ased on managementiistorical industry experience and on variougo#ssumptior
that are believed to be reasonable under the cstamoes. Actual results may differ from thesenesstis.

Accounts and Notes Receivable

Trade accounts receivable for the nightclub openas primarily comprised of credit card chargehijoln are generally converted to cash in

to five days after a purchase is made. The mddisiah’s accounts receivable is primarily comprised otnegbles for advertising sales
Expo registration. The Company’s accounts receejaither is comprised of employee advances and otiseellaneous receivables. The long
term portion of notes receivable are included tmeotassets in the accompanying consolidated bakhrests. The Company recognizes int
income on notes receivable based on the termsadidheement and based upon managesientiluation that the notes receivable and ini
income will be collected. The Company recognizdsvances for doubtful accounts or notes when, basednanagement judgme
circumstances indicate that accounts or notesvaigks will not be collected.
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Inventories

Inventories include alcoholic beverages, food, &unpany merchandise. Inventories are carried aladver of cost, average cost, wh
approximates actual cost determined on a firstiist-out (“FIFO”) basis, or market.\

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Praxgsior depreciation and amortization are made ustrajghtline rates over the estima
useful lives of the related assets and the shofteiseful lives or terms of the applicable leasmsléasehold improvements. Buildings h
estimated useful lives ranging from 29 to 40 yekrsniture, equipment and leasehold improvemente lestimated useful lives between
and 40 years. Expenditures for major renewals atigtments that extend the useful lives are capéighl Expenditures for normal maintena
and repairs are expensed as incurred. The costisetsasold or abandoned and the related accumuefgdciation are eliminated from
accounts and any gains or losses are chargedditettén the accompanying consolidated statememanfime of the respective period.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

FASB ASC 350Goodwill and Other Intangibles Assetddresses the accounting for goodwill and othemigible assets. Under FASB A
350, goodwill and intangible assets with indefidites are no longer amortized, but reviewed omanual basis for impairment. Definite liv
intangible assets are amortized on a straightdia&is over their estimated lives. Fully amortizedets are writteoff against accumulat
amortization.

Impairment of LoneLived Assets

The Company reviews property and equipment anchgiliée assets with definite lives for impairment emever events or changes
circumstances indicate the carrying amount of aeta®ay not be recoverable. Recoverability of thessets is measured by comparison
carrying amounts to future undiscounted cash fltvesassets are expected to generate. If propedyeqnipment and intangible assets '
definite lives are considered to be impaired, thpdirment to be recognized equals the amount bghwihie carrying value of the asset exc
its fair value. Assets are grouped at the lowegell for which there are identifiable cash flowsnpipally at the club level, when asses:
impairment. Cash flows for our club assets aretifled at the individual club level. The Compasynnual evaluation was performed &
September 30, 2012, based on a projected discogasddflow method using a discount rate determimedhanagement to be commenst
with the risk inherent in the current business nhode determined that there is no net asset impaitrat September 30, 2012.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company calculates the fair value of its assetkliabilities which qualify as financial instremis and includes this additional informa
in the notes to consolidated financial statemertierwthe fair value is different than the carryirgue of these financial instruments.
estimated fair value of accounts receivable, actopayable and accrued liabilities approximatertbairying amounts due to the relativ
short maturity of these instruments. The carryiafug of short and lonterm debt also approximates fair value since tlestuments be.
market rates of interest. None of these instrumargdeld for trading purposes.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company accounts for financial instruments #ratindexed to and potentially settled in, its ostock, including stock put options,
accordance with the provisions of FASB ASC 8AB¢counting for Derivative Financial Instruments &éetd to, and Potentially Settled ir
Company’s Own StockUnder certain circumstances that would requieeGompany to settle these equity items in caghwathout regard 1
probability, FASB ASC 815 would require the claisifion of all or part of the item as a liabilitpéthe adjustment of that reclassified am
to fair value at each reporting date, with suchlusitipents reflected in the Compasigonsolidated statements of income. The firgtunsent tc
meet the requirements of FASB ASC 815 for derivatiecounting occurred in the quarter ended Jun2@®@ when the Company renegoti:
the payback terms of certain put options and agtegiledge as collateral to certain holders a sgédiem on certain property. This derivat
has been liquidated during the quarter ended Mat¢i2013.
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Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue from the sale ohalic beverages, food and merchandise, other tmgeand services at the pointsaiie
upon receipt of cash, check, or credit card charge.

The Company recognizes Internet revenue from mgprghbscriptions to its online entertainment sitdgem notification of a new or existi
subscription and its related fee are received fthenthird party hosting company or from the creditd company, usually two to three ¢
after the transaction has occurred. The monthlyigerot refundable. The Company recognizes Inteaugtion revenue when paymen
received from the credit card as revenues are emnéd estimable nor collection deemed probable frithat point.

Revenues from the sale of magazines and advertigsintent are recognized when the issue is publisinedshipped. Revenues and exte
expenses related to the Company’s annual Expo odioveare recognized upon the completion of theveation in August.

Sales and Liguor Taxes

The Company recognizes sales and liquor taxes agicevenues and an equal expense in accordanceFASB ASC 605,How Taxe
Collected from Customers and Remitted to Governmhéntthorities Should Be Presented in the Incona¢eBtent. Total sales and liquor ta»
aggregated $2.1 million and $1.9 million for theetta months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012, respbctiv

Advertising and Marketing

Advertising and marketing expenses are primarilyjngosed of costs related to public advertisemeni$ giveaways, which are used
promotional purposes. Advertising and marketing emges are expensed as incurred and are includemperating expenses in -
accompanying consolidated statements of income.

Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are determined using thditiamethod in accordance with FASB ASC 74&;counting for Income Taxe Deferre
tax assets and liabilities are recognized for tteiré tax consequences attributable to differefea/een the financial statement carn
amounts of existing assets and liabilities andrtrespective tax bases. Deferred tax assets abitities are measured using enacted tax
expected to apply to taxable income in the yeanghiich those temporary differences are expecteetoecovered or settled. The effec
deferred tax assets and liabilities of a changguinrates is recognized in income in the period itheludes the enactment date. In additic
valuation allowance is established to reduce arfgroad tax asset for which it is determined thas itnore likely than not that some portior
the deferred tax asset will not be realized.

FASB ASC 740 creates a single model to addressuatiog for uncertainty in tax positions by presgrgpa minimum recognition thresholi
tax position is required to meet before being radoed in the financial statements. FASB ASC 74® giovides guidance on derecognit
measurement, classification, interest and penalesounting in interim periods, disclosure andchdition. There are no unrecognized
benefits to disclose in the notes to the consdidifinancial statements.
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Put Options

In certain situations, the Company issues resttictemmon shares as partial consideration for aitopuis of certain businesses
assets. Pursuant to the terms and conditions eofgtverning acquisition agreements, the holderush sshares has the right, but not
obligation, to put a fixed number of the sharesaomonthly basis back to the Company at a fixedepper share. The Company may ¢
during any given month to either buy the monthlgrgls or, if management elects not to do so, the@ehalan sell the monthly shares in the «
market, and any deficiency between the amount wthiehholder receives from the sale of the monthigres and the value of shares wil
paid by the Company. The Company has accountedhfese shares in accordance with the guidance lisbid by FASB ASC 48
Distinguishing Liabilities From Equityas a reclassification of the value of the sharemifpermanent to temporary equity. As the st
become due, the Company transfers the value adlthees back to permanent equity, less any amoisht@#he holder. Also sedtrivative
Financial Instruments” above. We finished liquidgtithese put options during the quarter ended Mai¢l2013.

Earnings (Loss) Per Common Share

The Company computes earnings (loss) per sharecordance with FASB ASC 26&arnings Per Share FASB ASC 260 provides for t
calculation of basic and diluted earnings per shBasic earnings per share includes no dilutioniamdmputed by dividing income available
common stockholders by the weighted average nurmbeommon shares outstanding for the period. Ddutarnings per share reflect
potential dilution of securities that could shardghe earnings of the Company.

Potential common stock shares consist of shareéarthg arise from outstanding dilutive common stogkions and warrants (the numbe
which is computed using the “treasury stock methadid from outstanding convertible debentures (thmber of which is computed using
“if converted method”). Diluted EPS considers thaemtial dilution that could occur if the Compasydutstanding common stock optic
warrants and convertible debentures were conventiedcommon stock that then shared in the Commaegrnings (loss) (as adjusted
interest expense, that would no longer occur ifdbleentures were converted).

Stock Options

The compensation cost recognized for the three nsosded March 31, 2013 and 2012 was $281,745 BA@&l, respectively. There w
no stock options exercises for the three months@brch 31, 2013 and 2012.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MA RCH 31, 2013 AS COMPARED TO THE THREE MONTHS
ENDED MARCH 31, 2012

For the three months ended March 31, 2013, we badatidated total revenues of $28.7 million comdaie consolidated total revenues
$25.4 million for the three months ended March 2112, an increase of $3.3 million or 13.0%. Thaéase in total revenues was prime
attributable to clubs acquired during the last ywih a slight decrease in same-store sales. Tetanues for same-location-saperiod o
club operations decreased to $24.1 million forttiree months ended March 31, 2013 from $25.0 milfar the same period ended March
2012. This decrease is principally due to the Simevl not being in a city where we have a club afsb due to certain other sporting ev
having a lower draw in 2013.
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Following is a comparison of the Compasiycome statement for the quarters ended Marcl2@13 and 2012 with percentages compar
total revenue:

(in thousands) 2013 % 2012 %

Sales of alcoholic beverag $ 11,04« 38.2% $ 10,40¢ 40.9%
Sales of food and merchand 2,87¢ 10.(% 2,33t 9.2%
Service Revenue 13,05: 45.5% 11,28: 44 0%
Other 1,754 6.1% 1,392 5.5%

Total Revenue 28,72¢ 100.(% 25,41« 100.(%
Cost of Goods Sol 3,49¢ 12.2% 3,39( 13.%%
Salaries & Wage 6,14¢ 21.2% 5,20¢ 20.5%
Stocl-based Compensatic 281 1.C% 12 0.C%
Taxes and permil 4,57: 15.% 3,95: 15.€%
Charge card fee 34z 1.2% 373 1.5%
Rent 782 2. 7% 721 2.8%
Legal & professiona 98C 3.4% 741 2.€%
Advertising and marketin 1,162 4.C% 1,04C 4.1%
Insurance 57C 2.C% 347 1.4%
Utilities 552 1.5% 40€ 1.€6%
Depreciation and amortizatic 1,31z 4.€% 1,19C 4.7%
Settlement of lawsu - 0.C% 1,831 7.2%
Other 2,35:% 8.2% 1,75( 6.6%
Total operating expenses 22,55: 78.5% 20,95¢ 82.5%

Operating incom 6,17¢ 21.5% 4,45¢ 17.5%
Interest incom 1 0.C% 1 0.C%
Interest expens (1,762 -6.1% (1,206 -4.4%
Gain (loss) on change in fair value of derivatinstiuments 1 0.C% 40 0.2%
Income from continuing operations before income$ax $ 4,41¢ 15.% $ 3,391 13.2%

Following is an explanation of significant variasda the above amounts.

Service revenues include cover charges, fees paghtertainers, room rentals, memberships anddeasgyed for credit card processing. O
revenues include ATM commissions earned, video gaara other vending and certain promotion feesgathto our entertainers. \
recognize revenue from other revenues and seraidi® point-of-sale upon receipt of cash, checkredit card charge.

Cost of goods sold includes cost of alcoholic aad-@icoholic beverages, food, cigars and cigaretteschandise, media printing/binding :
media postage. The cost of goods sold for the chdyations for the three months ended March 313 2@ds 11.8% compared to 13.3% for
three months ended March 31, 2012. The cost ofgjeoldl for same-location-sarperiod of club operations for the three months dridarct
31, 2013 was 12.5%, compared to 13.3% for the gaemied ended March 31, 2012. The decrease in tsiead@oods for 2013 is principally
result of some cost decreases along with natiareunt discounts and cost controls.

The increase in payroll and related costs, statetBalaries & Wagesabove, was primarily due to the addition of the rawbs during 201,

Payroll for same-location-sanperiod of club operations was $4.4 million for eaaththe three months ended March 31, 2013 and
Management currently believes that its labor andagament staff levels are appropriate.
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Stockbased compensation is a noncash cost from isstiel sptions to employees and Board members in .20h2se continue to vest
2013.

The decrease in the percentage of rent expensvéoues is due to the Company purchasing propeitg recent club acquisitions and du
the purchase of the property at an existing clubaimuary 2012.

The increase in legal and professional expenserisipally due to a continuing labor lawsuit in N&terk which was more active in 2013.
The settlement of lawsuit expense is explainethénGommitments and Contingencies note to the ciolaet financial statements.

The increase in other expenses is due to incréa®€d 3 in certain items such as cleaning servieesrity and music royalties.

The increase in interest expense as a percentagevefiues was attributable to the debt incurredun acquisition of the Jaguar clubs
September 2012, net of our continuing reductioprofcipal balances.

Income taxes, as a percentage of income befors taas 36.6% and 33.4% for the quarters ended MaktcB013 and 2012, respectively.
increase in 2013 is principally due to the increlasteck-based compensation, which is not dedudiilsléax purposes.

Operating income (exclusive of corporate overhdéadyame-location-samgeriod of club operations was $7.4 million and $&illion for the
three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012, resplyciThe decrease was due to losses in the quarteunting to over $300,000 as a re
of startup costs for the Compasyiew concepts, Bombshells and Vee Lounge and@lde Super Bowl not being in a city where we ha
club and due to certain other sporting events lrpaitower draw in 2013. There was an additional0$2d0 in expenses for startup costs
other unopened clubs for the quarter.

Our “operating margin"the percentage of operating income to total revenwas 21.5% and 17.5% for the quarters ended M&kcB013 an
2012, respectively. The 2012 quarter was dramétiedfected by the settlement of lawsuit of $1.8liom. Without that expense, the 2(
guarter operating margin would have been 24.7%tl8eprevious paragraph for explanation regardieg2013 quarter.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED MARC H 31, 2013 AS COMPARED TO THE SIX MONTHS ENDELC
MARCH 31, 2012

For the six months ended March 31, 2013, we hadalmtated total revenues of $55.9 million comparedonsolidated total revenues of $¢
million for the six months ended March 31, 2012 jrerease of $8.5 million or 17.9%. The increaseial revenues was primarily attributs
to new club acquisitions, net of a decrease ifl teteenues for same-location-same-period of clutitinaing operations 0$480,000, to $45
million for the six months ended March 31, 201ir45.5 million for the same period ended MarchZ,2. This decrease is principally |
to the Super Bowl not being in a city where we hawdub and also due to certain other sporting &vieaving a lower draw in 2013.
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Following is a comparison of the Compasynhcome statement for the six months ended Mai¢l2@13 and 2012 with percentages comg

to total revenue:

(in thousands) 2013 % 2012 %

Sales of alcoholic beverag $ 21,44¢ 38.4% 19,32 40.7%
Sales of food and merchand 5,45¢ 9.8% 4,33: 9.1%
Service Revenue 25,70" 46.(% 21,16% 44.¢%
Other 3,257 5.8% 2,61( 5.5%

Total Revenue 55,86¢ 100.(% 47,43: 100.(%
Cost of Goods Sol 6,881 12.2% 6,322 13.5%
Salaries & Wage 12,181 21.8% 10,13( 21.2%
Stocl-based Compensatic 563 1.C% 21 0.C%
Taxes and permil 8,794 15.7% 7,404 15.¢%
Charge card fee 71€ 1.3% 681 1.4%
Rent 1,35z 2.4% 1,42¢ 3.C%
Legal & professiong 1,621 2.5% 1,441 3.C%
Advertising and marketin 2,271 4.1% 2,03t 4.2%
Insurance 1,06¢ 1.% 63€ 1.3%
Utilities 1,041 1.5% 807 1.7%
Depreciation and amortizatic 2,632 4.7% 2,31( 4.%
Settlement of lawsu - 0.C% 1,831 3.£%
Other 4,631 8.2% 3,56¢ 7.5%
Total operating expenses 43,75¢ 78.2% 38,61: 81.2%

Operating incom 12,11¢( 21.1% 8,82( 18.6%
Interest income 8 0.C% 3 0.C%
Interest expens (3,40 -6.1% (2,079 -4.4%
Gain (loss) on change in fair value of derivatinstiuments 1 0.C% 13¢€ 0.2%
Income from continuing operations before incomeax $ 8,71¢ 15.6% 6,88 14.£%

Following is an explanation of significant variasda the above amounts.

Service revenues include cover charges, fees paahtertainers, room rentals, memberships anddeasyed for credit card processing. O
revenues include ATM commissions earned, video gaara other vending and certain promotion feesgdthto our entertainers. \
recognize revenue from other revenues and seraidie point-of-sale upon receipt of cash, checkredit card charge.

Cost of goods sold includes cost of alcoholic and-alcoholic beverages, food, cigars and cigaretteschandise, media printing/bindil
media postage and internet traffic purchases aramaster payouts. The cost of goods sold for thk oferations for the six months en
March 31, 2012 was 12.1% compared to 13.2% fosthenonths ended March 31, 2012. The cost of geottsfor same-location-sanperioc
of club operations for the six months ended Marth213 was 12.8%, compared to 13.2% for the sagnegended March 31, 2012. 1
decrease in the cost of goods for 2013 is prinlyigatesult of some cost decreases along with nakiaccount discounts and cost controls.

Payroll for same-location-sanperiod of club operations remained at $8.3m forgbltemonths ended March 31, 2013 and 2012, resmy
Management currently believes that its labor andagament staff levels are appropriate.

Stockbased compensation is a noncash cost from isstieg sptions to employees and Board members in .20h2se continue to vest
2013.

The decrease in rent expense and its percentaggdnues is due to the Company purchasing propeity recent club acquisitions and du
the purchase of the property at an existing clubaimuary 2012.

The increase in legal and professional expensgrisipally due to a continuing labor lawsuit in Né&wrk which was more active in 2013.
Insurance costs have risen due to rising preminntise insurance marketplace for our business.

The increase in depreciation is principally du¢h® new clubs acquired.
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The increase in other expenses is due to incréa®€d 3 in certain items such as cleaning servieesrity and music royalties.

The increase in interest expense as a percentagevefiues was attributable to the debt incurredun acquisition of the Jaguar clubs
September 2012, net of our continuing reductioprofcipal balances.

Income taxes, as a percentage of income befors ta&s 36.7% and 34.0% for the six months ended IMai¢ 2013 and 2012, respectiv
The increase in 2013 is principally due to the éased stock-based compensation, which is not dbtiuftir tax purposes.

Operating income (exclusive of corporate overhdad)same-location-samgeriod of club operations increased to $14.4 mmillfor the si;
months ended March 31, 2013 from $14.2 milliondame period ended March 31, 2012, or by 1.4%. Di& period was affected by losse
the period amounting to over $300,000 as a re$uitastup costs for the Compasynew concepts, Bombshells and Vee Lounge and@ldm
Super Bowl not being in a city where we have a @uld due to certain other sporting events havihomeer draw in 2013. There was
additional $140,000 in expenses for startup caststher unopened clubs for the period.

Our “operating margin”the percentage of operating income to total revenwas 21.7% and 18.6% for the six months endeaiMat, 201
and 2012, respectively. The 2012 period was draalitiaffected by the settlement of lawsuit of $in8lion. Without that expense, the 2(
period operating margin would have been 22.5%.tlse@revious paragraph for explanation regardieg2®l3 period.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

In addition to our financial information presentiedaccordance with GAAP, management uses certain-®AAP financial measurestithin
the meaning of the SEC Regulation G, to clarify antiance understanding of past performance anggutssfor the future. Generally, a non
GAAP financial measure is a numerical measure abmpanys operating performance, financial position or clslws that excludes
includes amounts that are included in or excludedhfthe most directly comparable measure calculateti presented in accordance
GAAP. We monitor norGAAP financial measures because it describes teeatipg performance of the company and helps manegean
investors gauge our ability to generate cash flexeluding some recurring charges that are inclidgde most directly comparable meas
calculated and presented in accordance with GAA#atRe to each of the ndBAAP financial measures, we further set forth ationale a
follows:

Nor-GAAP Operating Income and Non-GAAP Operating Maryfi'e exclude from non-GAAP operating income and @#&AP operatin
margin amortization of intangibles, patron taxesng and losses from asset sales, stock-based oeatp charges, litigation and other one
time legal settlements and acquisition costs. Wieve that excluding these items assists investoevaluating period-oveperiod changes
our operating income and operating margin withbaetimpact of items that are not a result of ourtdaglay business and operations.

Nor-GAAP Net Income and Non-GAAP Net Income per Baiséze and per Diluted ShardVe exclude from non-GAAP net income and nor
GAAP net income per diluted share and per basiceshimortization of intangibles, patron taxes, inedax expense, impairment charges, ¢
and losses from asset sales, stock-based commemdaigation and other one-time legal settlemeartd acquisition costs, and include the Nor
GAAP provision for income taxes, calculated asttheeffect at 35% effective tax rate of the prest@axn-GAAP income before taxes less stock
based compensation, because we believe that emglglich measures helps management and investdes betlerstand our operat
activities.
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Adjusted EBITD/ We exclude from Adjusted EBITDA depreciation expe, amortization of intangibles, income tax, iestrexpense, inter
income, gains and losses from asset sales, aéguisibsts, litigation and other otieae legal settlements and impairment charges lsece
believe that adjusting for such items helps managerand investors better understand operatingigesivAdjusted EBITDA provides a cc
operational performance measurement that compese#ts without the need to adjust for Federalestad local taxes which have consider
variation between domestic jurisdictions. Also, clude interest cost in our calculation of AdadstEBITDA. The results are, therefc
without consideration of financing alternatives aafpital employed. We use Adjusted EBITDA as onedgline to assess our unlevera
performance return on our investments. AdjustedTER is also the target benchmark for our acquisgiof nightclubs.

Our Adjusted EBITDA does not include interest exgmnlitigation and other one time legal settlememisome taxes, depreciati
amortization and impairment charges. Because we havrowed money in order to finance our operatiomgrest expense is a neces
element of our costs and our ability to generatemees. Because we use capital assets, depreciatimntization and impairment charges
also necessary elements of our costs. Also, thmeat/of income taxes is a necessary element obperations. Therefore, any measures
exclude these elements have material limitatiorsscdmpensate for these limitations, we believe th& appropriate to consider both
earnings (loss) determined under GAAP, as well disigted EBITDA, non-GAAP net income and nGAAP operating income, to evaluate
performance. Also, we separately analyze any sagmif fluctuations in interest expense, depreamgtamortization, impairment charges
income taxes.

The following tables present our nGAAP measures for the periods ended March 31, 20132012 (in thousands, except per s
amounts):

For the Three Month For the Six Month:
Ended March 31 Ended March 31
(in thousands 2013 2012 2013 2012
Reconciliation of GAAP net income tc
Adjusted EBITDA
GAAP net income $ 2,74 % 2,117 % 539 $ 4,301
Income tax expens 1,61¢ 1,13¢ 3,19¢ 2,34
Interest expense and income and gain on deriv 1,76(C 1,06t 3,39¢ 1,93¢
Loss from discontinued operatio 3 87 17 13z
Litigation and other or-time legal settlemen - 1,831 - 1,831
Acquisition costt 34 76 89 11€
Depreciation and amortizatic 1,312 1,19C 2,632 2,31(
Adjusted EBITDA $ 7,46¢ % 7,50 $ 14,72  $ 12,97:
Reconcilation of GAAP net income (loss) t
non-GAAP net income
GAAP net income $ 2,74 % 2,117 % 539 $ 4,301
Patron tay 89¢ 82¢ 1,79(C 1,53¢
Amortization of intangible: 10C 74 23C 20t
(Gain) loss on change in fair value of derivatinstiument: 3 (40) (2) (13¢)
Stoclk-based compensatic 281 12 563
Litigation and other or-time settlement - 1,831 - 1,831
Income tax expens 1,61¢ 1,13¢ 3,19¢ 2,34
Acquisition costs 34 76 89 11€
Loss from discontinued operations, net of inconxes 3 87 17 13z
Non-GAAP provision for income taxe (1,88¢) (2,13) (3,759 (3,615
Non-GAAP net income 3,78( $ 3,98( $ 7,525 $ 6,731
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Reconciliation of GAAP diluted net income
per share to nor-GAAP diluted net income per share

Fully diluted share 9,98¢ 9,731 9,871 9,71(
GAAP net income $ 02¢ % 02z $ 056 $ 0.4
Patron tay 0.0¢ 0.0¢ 0.1¢ 0.1¢€
Amortization of intangible: 0.01 0.01 0.0z 0.0z
(Gain) loss on change in fair value of derivatinstiument: (0.0C (0.00) (0.00) (0.0))
Stoclk-based compensatic 0.0z 0.0C 0.0¢ 0.0C
Litigation and other or-time settlement - 0.1¢ - 0.1¢
Income tax expens 0.1¢€ 0.12 0.3 0.24
Acquisition costt 0.0C 0.01 0.01 0.01
Loss from discontinued operations, net of incomxes 0.0C 0.01 0.0C 0.01
Non-GAAP provision for income taxe (0.19 (0.29) (0.3¢) (0.37)
Non-GAAP diluted net income per she $ 03 % 04z $ 0.7¢ $ 0.6¢
Reconciliation of GAAP operating income tc
non-GAAP operating income
GAAP operating incom $ 6,17¢ % 4,45¢ $ 12,11( $ 8,82(
Patron tay 89¢ 82¢ 1,79( 1,53¢
Amortization of intangible: 10C 74 23C 20¢
Stocl-based compensatic 281 12 562 21
Litigation and other or-time settlement - 1,831 - 1,831
Acquisition costt 34 76 89 11€
Non-GAAP operating incom $ 749C % 7,27¢ $ 14,78 $ 12,53:
Reconciliation of GAAP operating margin to
non-GAAP operating margin
GAAP operating incom 21.5% 17.5% 21.7% 18.€%
Patron tay 3.1% 3.2% 3.2% 3.2%
Amortization of intangible: 0.3% 0.2% 0.4% 0.4%
Stocl-based compensatic 1.C% 0.C% 1.C% 0.C%
Litigation and other or-time settlement 0.C% 7.2% 0.C% 3.£%
Acquisition cost: 0.2% 0.2% 0.2% 0.2%
26.1% 28.6% 26.5% 26.4%

Non-GAAP operating margi

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

We believe our ability to generate cash from opegadctivities is one of our fundamental finana#akengths. Refer to the heading "Cash F
from Operating Activities" below. The neterm outlook for our business remains strong, aadcexpect to generate substantial cash flows
operations in 2013. As a result of our expectedh ¢esvs from operations, we have significant flakth to meet our financial commitmen
The Company has not recently raised capital thrahghssuance of equity securities. Instead, wedase financing to lower our overall cos
capital and increase our return on shareowner#yedrefer to the heading "Cash Flows from Finagdiwtivities" below. We have a history
borrowing funds in private transactions and froifesg in acquisition transactions and continuedwehthe ability to borrow funds at reason
interest rates in that manner. We have historiaailized these cash flows to invest in propertd @aquipment and adult nightclubs. Refer tc
heading “Cash Flows from Investing Activities” belo
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As of March 31, 2013, excluding the patron taxiligh we had working capital of $3.2 million comyeal to working capital of $1.7 million
of September 30, 2012. The increase is principhlly to our free cash flow, net of the real estatelpases and business acquisitions we
during 2013, utilizing $6.3 million in cash. Becausf the large volume of cash we handle, stringash controls have been implementec
March 31, 2013, our cash and cash equivalents $&&million compared to $5.5 million at SeptemB@r 2012.

Our depreciation for the quarter ended March 31,32@as $1.3 million compared to $1.1 million foetquarter ended March 31, 2012.
amortization for the quarter ended March 31, 2043 $100,000 compared to $108,000 for the quartedMarch 31, 2012.

Sources and Use of Funds
Cash flows from operating activities are generdily result of net income adjusted for depreciadind amortization expenses, deferred t
(increases) decreases in accounts receivable, tories) and prepaid expenses and increases (desyeasaccounts payable and acci

liabilities. See a summary of these activities felo

Cash flows used in investing activities generadiffect payments relating to acquisitions of bustess property and equipment and marke
securities. See a summary of these activities helow

Cash flows from financing activities generally egfl proceeds from issuance of shares and femg-debt, and payments on debt anc
options and purchase of treasury stock. See a synohthese activities below.

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Following are our summarized cash flows from oppgaactivities:

Three Months Ended March 2

2013 2012
Income from continuing operatiol $ 551t $ 4,54(
Depreciation and amortizatic 2,632 2,31(C
Deferred taxe (122) 2,16¢
Stock compensation exper 563 21
Change in operating assets and liabili 2,261 3,12¢
Other 82 (179

$ 10937 $ 11,98(

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Following are our summarized cash flows from iniegshctivities:

Three Months Ended March Z

2013 2012
Proceeds from sale of marketable secur $ 50C $ S
Additions to property and equipme (3,276 (4,749
Additions of businesses, net of cash acquired (3,000 (1,439
$ (5,77¢ $ (6,189
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Following is a reconciliation of our additions tooperty and equipment for the quarters ended Maigt2013 and 2012:

Three Months ende

(in thousands March 31,
2013 2012
Acquisition of real estal $ 13,30: $ 5,80(
Capital expenditures funded by di (12,119 (6,23¢6)
New capital expenditure in new clubs and purcludsercraft 1,63¢ 3,72
Maintenance capital expenditures 44¢ 1,45¢
Total capital expenditures in consolidated statgmécash flows $ 3,27¢  $ 4,74¢

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Following are our summarized cash flows from finagactivities:

Three Months Ended March 2

2013 2012

Proceeds from lor-term deb! $ 450C $ S
Purchase of put options and payments on deriv (13¢) (1,049
Payments on lor-term debt (4,759 (2,857)
Purchase of treasury sto (929) (722)
Exercise of warrani - 90C
Distribution of minority interests (10¢) (108)

$ (1,439 $ (3,83))

The following table presents a summary of our dasks from operating, investing, and financing sitigs:

Three Months Ended March &

2013 2012
Operating activitie: $ 10,937 $ 11,98(
Investing activities (5,776 (6,187%)
Financing activities (1,439 (3,83)
Net increase (decrease) in cash $ 3,72¢ % 1,96¢

We require capital principally for construction acquisition of new clubs, renovation of older clb®l investments in technology. We r
also utilize capital to repurchase our common stxkart of our share repurchase program.
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Put Options

As part of certain of our acquisition transactions, have entered into Lock-Up/Le&kit Agreements with the sellers pursuant to whichol
after a contractual period after the closing dtte,seller shall have the right, but not the oltiazg to have us purchase from seller a ce
number of our shares of common stock issued inrimsactions in an amount and at a rate of not riane a contractual number of the sh
per month (the “Monthly Shares”) calculated at Eeper share equal to a contractual value perestigalue of the Rick’s Shares”At our
election during any given month, we may either thgy Monthly Shares or, if we elect not to buy therthly Shares from the seller, then
seller shall sell the Monthly Shares in the operkeia Any deficiency between the amount which tb#es receives from the sale of
Monthly Shares and the value of the shares shatlaid by us within three (3) business days of the @f sale of the Monthly Shares du
that particular month. Our obligation to purchase Monthly Shares from the Seller shall terminatd eease at such time as the sellel
received a contractual amount from the sale oRick&’s Shares and any deficiency. Under the terfrihe@Lock-Up/LeakOut Agreements, ti
seller may not sell more than a contractual nundberur shares per 30-day period, regardless of enehe seller “Putsthe shares to us
sells them in the open market or otherwise. Wesffied liquidating the put options during the quaeteded March 31, 2013 and we haw
more obligations under the put options.

Other Liguidity and Capital Resources

We have not established lines of credit or finagoither than the above mentioned notes payableoanaxisting debt. There can be
assurance that we will be able to obtain additidimaincing on reasonable terms in the future, dlhtshould the need arise.

On September 29, 2008, our Board of Directors ai#éd us to repurchase up to $5 million worth of oammon stock in the open marl
During the six months ended March 31, 2013 and 2095659 shares ($824,414) and 27,240 shares @35 respectively, were purcha
under this programAs of April, 2013, we completed the repurchasellb$a million in stock authorized under this pladn April 25, 2013, ot
Board of Directors authorized us to repurchaseougrt additional $3 million worth of our common dtdo the open market or in privat
negotiated transactions.

We believe that the adult entertainment industandard of treating entertainers as independentracionts provides us with safe har
protection to preclude payroll tax assessment fimr [years. We have prepared plans that we belgllerotect our profitability in the eve
that sexually oriented business industry is reguiineall states to convert dancers who are nowgaddent contractors into employees.

The sexually oriented business industry is highdynpetitive with respect to price, service and lmrgtas well as the professionalism of
entertainment. Although management believes thaangevellpositioned to compete successfully in the futuneré can be no assurance
we will be able to maintain our high level of namneeognition and prestige within the marketplace.

IMPACT OF INFLATION

We have not experienced a material overall impamrnfinflation in our operations during the pastesaV years. To the extent permittec
competition, we have managed to recover increagsis$ through price increases and may continue gndblowever, there can be no assur
that we will be able to do so in the future.

SEASONALITY

Our nightclub operations are affected by seasaabfs. Historically, we have experienced redueaemues from April through Septem

with the strongest operating results occurring iy ctober through March. Our experience to daleates that there does not appear to
seasonal fluctuation in our Internet activities.
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GROWTH STRATEGY

We believe that our nightclub operations can caito grow organically and through careful entripimarkets and demographic segm
with high growth potential. Our growth strategy (&) to open new clubs after market analysis, ¢l@dquire existing clubs in locations that
consistent with our growth and income targets ahickvappear receptive to the upscale club formuahave developed, (c) to form jc
ventures or partnerships to reduce stigrtand operating costs, with us contributing eqiityhe form of our brand name and manage
expertise, (d) to develop new club concepts thatcansistent with our management and marketindgsskihd/or (e) to acquire real estat
connection with club operations, although some<lmay be in leased premises.

During fiscal 2008, we acquired a media divisionddotal cost of $1.1 million. This acquisition svlunded primarily through issuance of
restricted common stock valued at $369,754, an® $00 in cash. This media operation had total regsrof approximately $1.2 million, $:
million and $1.4 million for fiscal years 2012, 20&nd 2010, respectively and net losses of apptein $67,000, $156,000 and $242,000.

During fiscal 2008, we acquired five existing nigb operations and 49% of an existing nightclubragion for a total cost of $69.8 millic
including real property of $14.8 million. These aisitions were funded primarily through indebtednes $21 million, including real prope
debt of $8 million, issuance of our restricted coomnstock valued at $13 million, $701,711 in debgfeeness, and $35.4 million in ca
These nightclub operations (exclusive of the Lagasgeclub closed in 2011 and the Austin club in Whiee sold 60% in 2011) had tc
revenues of approximately $35.5 million, $34.9 ioilland $32.6 million for fiscal years 2012, 201 2010, respectively, and pretax inct
of approximately $11.8 million, $11.0 million an8.8 million.

During fiscal 2009, we acquired one nightclub ofierafor cash of approximately $2.4 million. Thiesing occurred on September 30, 2!
This acquisition was funded with cash of $2.3 miili This nightclub operation had total revenueamgroximately $3.8 million, $3.6 millic
and $3.8 million in 2012, 2011 and 2010, respebtiand net income (loss) before taxes of approxiya$505,000, $266,000 and $(26,C
for 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

During fiscal 2010, we acquired three existing tigib operations for a total cost of approximat®8,2 million, including real property
approximately $4.6 million. These acquisitions wduaded primarily with cash of approximately $5.9llion, real property debt «
approximately $2.5 million, and a selleommon stock which we owned, valued at approxmat795,000. These nightclub operations
total revenues of approximately $8.6 million, $m8lion and $2.8 million and net income before taxad approximately $932,000, $609,!
and $176,000 for fiscal years 2012, 2011 and 26pectively.

During fiscal 2011, we acquired three existing b operations and opened another for a totdlafospproximately $11.3 million, includi
real property of approximately $6.4 million. Thesequisitions were funded with cash. These nightdpbrations had total revenues
approximately $5.6 million for fiscal year 2012 damet income before taxes of approximately $50Q,000

During fiscal 2012, we acquired eleven existinghtégub operations and two other licensed locationder development for a total cos
approximately $35.4 million, including real propeuf approximately $7.6 million. These acquisitionsre funded primarily with cash
approximately $4.9 million, debt of $22 million ameal property debt of approximately $9.0 milliofhese nightclub operations had t
revenues of approximately $4.3 million and net meobefore taxes of approximately $620,000 for fiseamr 2012. These amounts do
include the acquisition of approximately $10.1 iaill of real estate relating to the Jaguars acémiswhich was closed on October 16, 2012.

During fiscal 2013, we have acquired an existimgrised location for $3,000,000 ($1.5 million intcasd the balance in promissory nof
This location is being remodeled and will openrate2013. We also acquired real property of appnately $10 million ($350,000 in cash ¢
the balance in debt).

We continue to evaluate opportunities to acquine nghtclubs and anticipate acquiring new locatitmat fit our business model as we
done in the past. The acquisition of additionabslwill require us to obtain additional debt owigsce of our common stock, or both. There
be no assurance that we will be able to obtaintiagil financing on reasonable terms in the futifraf all, should the need arise. An inab
to obtain such additional financing could have dwvesse effect on our growth strategy.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures Alout Market Risk.

As of March 31, 2013, there were no material charigehe information provided in Item 7A of the Quamy’s Annual Report on Form 10-
for fiscal year ended September 30, 2012.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedu

Under the supervision and with the participationttef Company’s senior management, including the gaomy's chief executive officer ai
chief financial officer, the Company conducted amleation of the effectiveness of the design andration of the Compang’disclosur
controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 18a)}¥hd 15d-15(e) under the Securities ExchangeoAtB34, as amended (thExXchang
Act”), as of the end of the period covered by thigarterly report (the “Evaluation Date”). Based this evaluation, the Comparsychie
executive officer and chief financial officer conded as of the Evaluation Date that the Compaudisclosure controls and procedures \
effective such that the information relating to Bempany, including consolidated subsidiaries, ireguto be disclosed in the Compasny
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEf&forts (i) is recorded, processed, summarizedr@ported within the time periods specifie
SEC rules and forms, and (ii) is accumulated antiroanicated to the Company’s management, includiregG@ompanys chief executiv
officer and chief financial officer, as appropriateallow timely decisions regarding required discire.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Repogtin

There have been no changes in the Compaimgérnal control over financial reporting thatooed during the quarter ended March 31, .
that have materially affected or are reasonabbfyiko materially affect the Company’s internal tohover financial reporting.

PART II—OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings.

See “Legal Matterstinder Note 11 of Notes to Consolidated Financiate®hents above, which information is incorporateceim by reference
Item 1A. Risk Factors.

In addition to the other information set forth mstreport, you should carefully consider the festdiscussed in Part I, “Item 1A. Risk Factors
in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for yle&ar ended September 30, 2012, as such factols ewierially affect the Comparg/’
business, financial condition or future resultsthe three months ended March 31, 2013, there wermaterial changes to the risk fac
disclosed in the Company’s 2012 Annual Report onrFd0-K. The risks described in the Annual Repartr@rm 10K are not the only risl

the Company faces. Additional risks and uncertagtiot currently known to the Company, or that@oepany deems to be immaterial,
may have a material adverse impact on the Compdmugmess, financial condition or results of opers.
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Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities andse of Proceeds.

During the three months ended March 31, 2013, wehased 7,500 shares of common stock from put ogtadders at prices ranging fr
$8.12 to $8.63 per sharBuring the three months ended March 31, 2013, wehased 53,926 shares of common stock in the ogketna
prices ranging from $8.25 to $ 8.86. Following istenmary of our purchases by month:

Period: (@) (b) (c) (d)
Maximum

Number (or

Approximate
Total Number of  Dollar Value) of
Shares (or Units)  Shares (or Units)
Purchased as that May Yet be
Total Number of Average Price Part of Publicly  Purchased Unde

Shares (or Units)  Paid per Share  Announced Plan: the Plans or
Month Ending Purchased (1) (3) or Programs (2) Programs
January 31, 201< 13,307 $ 8.2¢ 8,807 $ 387,20«
February 28, 2013 17,767 $ 8.3¢ 17,767 $ 238,14
March 31, 2013 30,35 $ 8.71 27,35 $ 0
Total for the three months ended March 31, 201 61,42¢ 53,92¢ $ 0

(1) Included in the shares purchased were 7,500 siparebiased in connection with our obligations urtther exercise of put optio
during the quartel

(2) All shares were purchased pursuant to the repuechlan approved by our Board on September 29, 20bigh plan authorized tl
repurchase of up to $5,000,000 in shares of conmstamk. This repurchase plan had no expiration batexpired when all remaini
shares authorized under the plan were repurchaseidhe quarte!

(3) Prices include any commission and transaction ¢

Item 6. Exhibits.

Exhibit 31.1 — Certification of Chief Executive @fér of Rick's Cabaret International, Inc. requitddRule 13a — 14(1) or Rule 15dl4(a) o
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adoptesiamt to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley AcD622

Exhibit 31.2 — Certification of Chief Financial @fér of Rick’s Cabaret International, Inc. requitedRule 13a — 14(1) or Rule 15dl4(a) o
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adoptesiuaunt to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley AcD6R2

Exhibit 32.1 -- Certification of Chief Executive fifer and Chief Financial Officer of Rick’Cabaret International, Inc. pursuant to Sectiof
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and Section X838 U.S.C. 63.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caussdréport to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned hereunto duly authorized.

RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.

Date: May 9, 201 By: /s/ Eric S. Langa
Eric S. Langat
Chief Executive Officer and Preside

Date: May 9, 201 By: /s/ Phillip K. Marshall
Phillip K. Marshall
Chief Financial Officer and Principal Accountingfioér
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Eric S. Langan, Chief Executive Officer and Rdeat of Rick’s Cabaret International, Inc., certifat:
1. | have reviewed this quarterly report on Forn-Q of Rick's Cabaret International, In

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not coraajnuntrue statement of a material fact or omgtde a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts under which such statements were made, nt#adisg with respect to t
period covered by this repo

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,ader financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the issuer as of, and fier periods presented in this rep:

4, The issues other certifying officer and | are responsible &stablishing and maintaining disclosure contemsl procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules -15(e) and 15-15(e)) for the issuer and hay

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdumecaused such disclosure controls and procedorde designed under
supervision, to ensure that material informatiolatieg to the issuer, including its consolidatethsidiaries, is made known to us
others within those entities, particularly duriig period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financégarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed un
my supervision, to provide reasonable assurancardat the reliability of financial reporting antiet preparation of financ
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the issuerslasire controls and procedures and presentedsimetport our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psit based on such evaluation; anc

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the @ssuinternal control over financial reporting ttomicurred during the issuer's nr
recent fiscal year that has materially affectedijsoreasonably likely to materially affect, theuess internal control over financ
reporting; and

5. The issueB other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdih on our most recent evaluation of internal @brver financie
reporting, to the issuer's independent registerdaiqp accounting firm and the audit committee of fksuer's board of directors
persons performing the equivalent functiot

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cowirer financial reporting which &
reasonably likely to adversely affect the issuaiitity to record, process, summarize and repaédrfcial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a saniifiole in the issuer's inter
control over financial reporting.

Date: May 9, 201. By: [s/ Eric S. Langal
Eric S. Langat
Chief Executive Officer and Preside




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, Phillip K. Marshall, Chief Financial Officer dRick’s Cabaret International, Inc., certify that:
1. | have reviewed this quarterly report on Forn-Q of Rick's Cabaret International, In

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not coraajnuntrue statement of a material fact or omgtade a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts under which such statements were made, nt#adisg with respect to t
period covered by this repo

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,adner financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the issuer as of, and fier periods presented in this rep:

4. The issues other certifying officer and | are responsible &stablishing and maintaining disclosure contitsl procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules -15(e) and 15-15(e)) for the issuer and hay

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdumecaused such disclosure controls and procedorde designed under
supervision, to ensure that material informatiolatheg to the issuer, including its consolidatethsidiaries, is made known to us
others within those entities, particularly duriig period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financégarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed un
my supervision, to provide reasonable assurancardewy the reliability of financial reporting antiet preparation of financ
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the issuerslalsire controls and procedures and presentedsimetport our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and pros] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the @ssuinternal control over financial reporting ttomicurred during the issuer's nr
recent fiscal year that has materially affectedijsoreasonably likely to materially affect, theuess internal control over financ
reporting; and

5. The issueB other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdih on our most recent evaluation of internal @brver financie
reporting, to the issuer's independent registerdaiqp accounting firm and the audit committee of fksuer's board of directors
persons performing the equivalent functior

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cowoirer financial reporting which &
reasonably likely to adversely affect the issuaiitity to record, process, summarize and repaédrfcial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a saniifiole in the issuer's inter
control over financial reporting.

Date: May 9, 201. By: [s/ Phillip K. Marshal
Phillip K. Marshall
Chief Financial Officer and Principal Accountingfioér




Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Rick’al§aret International, Inc. (the “Company”) on FdtfrQ for the fiscal period ended March
31, 2013 as filed with the Securities and Exchabgemission on the date hereof (the “Report”), thdarsigned Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify,rpuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursugh®@b of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
that based on their knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsettion 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof 1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finanaaldition and result of operations of the
Company as of and for the periods covered in thgoRe

/sl Eric S. Langa

Eric S. Langat

Chief Executive Office
May 9, 201z

/s/ Phillip K. Marshal
Phillip K. Marshall
Chief Financial Office
May 9, 201z

A signed original of this written statement reqditey Section 906, or other document authenticatiegnowledging, or otherwise adopting
signature that appears in typed form within thetedmic version of this written statement requitsdSection 906, has been provided to Rick
Cabaret International, Inc. and will be retainedRigk’s Cabaret International, Inc. and furnished toSkeurities and Exchange Commis:
or its staff upon request.

The foregoing certification is being furnished tee tSecurities and Exchange Commission as an exbiliite Form 1@® and shall not t
considered filed as part of the Form 10-Q.




